
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA       :  
           :  
  v.         :  Case No.  11-CR-00106 (ESH) 
           :  
 ALI MOMAMED ALI,        :  
      also known as Ismail Ali,       :     
           : 

Defendant.        : 
 
 

GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
REMAINING COUNTS OF THE INDICTMENT 

 
The United States of America, by and through its attorney, the United States Attorney 

for the District of Columbia, respectfully moves to dismiss the remaining two counts of the 

indictment against the defendant, pursuant to Rule 48(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal 

Procedure.  The remaining counts are conspiracy to commit hostage taking, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1203; and aiding and abetting hostage taking, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1203 and 

2.  In support of this motion, the government states as follows: 

1. On November 20, 2013, the parties concluded their presentation of the evidence 

and arguments at the trial of this case, and the jury began its deliberations.  On November 26, 

2013, the jury returned a partial verdict, acquitting the defendant of the first count of the 

indictment, aiding and abetting piracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1651.  On December 12, 

2013, the Court declared a mistrial after the jury was unable to reach a verdict on the 

remaining counts of conspiracy to commit hostage taking and aiding and abetting hostage 

taking. 
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2. On December 18, 2013, the government announced its intention to try the 

defendant again on the two charges for which the jury did not reach a verdict.  This decision 

was based on the government’s assessment of the strength of the evidence against the 

defendant and the jury’s prolonged deliberations on the remaining counts. 

3. Late on January 6, 2014, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss the remaining 

two counts on double jeopardy grounds, based on the decision of the United States Supreme 

Court in United States v. Yeager, 557 U.S. 110 (2009). The government’s response is currently 

due on January 21, 2014. 

4. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Constitution precludes the government from 

relitigating in a second trial any issue that was necessarily decided by a jury’s acquittal in a 

prior trial.  Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 444 (1970).  To determine whether an issue was 

necessarily decided by a jury’s acquittal, Ashe held that the district court must examine the 

record of the prior proceedings, including the pleadings, evidence, charges, and any other 

relevant matter, and “conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an 

issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration.”  Id.  In 

Yeager, the Supreme Court extended the issue-preclusion principle articulated in Ashe to a 

case in which the jury had acquitted the defendant of some counts and hung on the remaining 

counts.  The Supreme Court held that, in evaluating whether the jury’s acquittals precluded 

retrial on the remaining counts, the district court had erred by considering the impact of the 

jury’s inability to reach a verdict on those remaining counts as part of its review of the prior 

proceedings to determine what the jury “necessarily” had decided.  Yeager, 557 U.S. at 121.   

The Supreme Court held that “[a] hung count is not a ‘relevant’ part of the ‘record of [the] 

prior proceedings.”  Id. (citation omitted).  Instead, the district court must assume that the jury 
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acted rationally when it reached its verdict of acquittal, even if that verdict appears to be 

inconsistent with the jury’s failure to reach a verdict on the remaining counts.  Id. at 121-23.  

If a particular issue was critical to all of the charges against the defendant, a jury verdict that 

necessarily decided the issue in his favor will protect him from prosecution for any charge for 

which that is an essential element.  Id. at 123. 

 5. In this case, the indictment properly charged Ali with the crimes of aiding and 

abetting piracy, conspiracy to commit hostage taking, and aiding and abetting hostage taking, 

because each of those offenses require proof of at least one essential element that the others do 

not.   Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932).   Thus, the jury’s acquittal on 

the count of aiding and abetting piracy would not at first appear to have been based on an 

issue of ultimate fact that would preclude retrial on the charges of conspiracy and aiding and 

abetting hostage taking.  Because of the acquittal on the piracy count, however, this Court 

must apply the Yeager analysis, rather than the Blockburger analysis, to the defendant’s 

current double jeopardy challenge.   

6. Having now studied the Yeager opinion and its progeny, given the facts of this 

case, including the arguments made at the first trial and the legal instructions given to the jury, 

the government now believes it is precluded by the Double Jeopardy Clause from retrying the 

defendant on the remaining counts of conspiracy to commit hostage taking and aiding and 

abetting hostage taking.  See United States v. Coughlin, 610F.3d 89, 98-100 (D.C. Cir. 2010) 

(where jury acquitted of three counts of mail fraud and hung on two remaining counts of mail 

fraud, retrial of hung mail fraud counts was prohibited under Yeager because acquittals 

established that jury necessarily found that defendant lacked fraudulent intent during the entire 

period encompassed by mailings). 
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WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the United States moves to dismiss the 

remaining counts of the indictment. 

           

       Respectfully submitted,  

RONALD C. MACHEN JR. 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
D.C. Bar. No. 447-889 
 
_____ /s/___________________                                     

By: Brenda J. Johnson 
Assistant United States Attorney 
D.C. Bar No. 370737    

            202/252-7801 
 Brenda.Johnson@usdoj.gov 

 
Julieanne Himelstein 
Assistant United States Attorney 
D.C. Bar No. 417136 
202/252-7957 
Julieanne.Himmelstein@usdoj.gov 
 
Fernando Campoamor-Sanchez 
Assistant United States Attorney 
D.C. Bar No. 451210 
202/252-7698 
Fernando.Campoamor-Sanchez@usdoj.gov 
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